IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE FEB 9 1995 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

WILLIAM J. O'ROURKE,

Petitioner,

versus

CASE NO. 84,934

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON MERITS

)

JAMES B. GIBSON, PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

SUSAN A. FAGAN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar Number 0845566 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32114-4310 904-252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, WILLIAM J. O'ROURKE, was charged by information on July 24, 1992, with attempted first degree murder in count one and with kidnapping in count two of Petitioner's former wife, Deborah Callahan. (R 1) The case proceeded to jury trial on February 22 through 25, 1993, before Circuit Judge Richard Watson in the Circuit Court of St. Johns County, Florida. (T 1-612) During the trial, without objection by the prosecutor, defense counsel requested permission from the trial court to call a witness, Joseph Vono, the landlord of the trailer park where the petitioner and Deborah Callahan lived prior to the incident. (T 233-234)

The trial court ruled, which it again reaffirmed after trial counsel's proffer, that this defense witness, Mr. Vono, would not be permitted to testify. <u>O'Rourke v. State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D2430, D2431 (Fla. 5th DCA November 18, 1994). (T 235, 407-410) The jury returned verdicts of guilty of attempted first degree murder and attempted kidnapping. (T 610-612; R 94-95)

Petitioner received a sentence on April 5, 1993, of 22 years imprisonment on count I followed by 8 years probation on count II. (R 165-166, 99-110)

Petitioner timely appealed and his convictions were affirmed by the Fifth District Court of Appeal on November 18, 1994. (R 123) <u>O'Rourke v. State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D2430 (Fla. 5th DCA November 18, 1994). (Appendix) In its opinion, the Fifth District Court of Appeal also certified the following

# question:

WHERE THE COURT'S INQUIRY INTO THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF A DEFENSE DISCOVERY VIOLATION FAILS TO ADDRESS THE EFFECT, IF ANY, THE VIOLATION HAS ON THE STATE'S ABILITY TO PREPARE FOR TRIAL, BUT A PROFFER IS MADE OF THE EVIDENCE EXCLUDED ON ACCOUNT OF THE VIOLATION, CAN THE PROFFER BE USED BY THE REVIEWING COURT TO DETERMINE THAT THE DEFICIENCY IN THE RICHARDSON HEARING CONDUCTED WAS HARMLESS ERROR?

On January 11, 1994, this Court postponed its decision on jurisdiction and ordered merit briefs to be submitted to the Court.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the evening of July 6, 1992, Donna Rhoden and her boyfriend, Mike Mozo, heard a faint knocking at the door while they were watching television inside their residence located at in Palm Valley, St. Johns County. (T

47-49) When they opened the door, they found Deborah Callahan sitting on their front porch up against the door with her hands holding a cloth on her throat. (T 48-50) Deborah appeared to be very fearful and told them that her boyfriend, the Petitioner, had slit her throat after she crashed his van. (T 49-52) She also explained to them that she first stayed in the petitioner's van for a while, which remained parked on the road further down their driveway, thinking the petitioner would return, but she later crawled to Donna Rhoden's porch. (T 51)

Kurt Johnson, a paramedic with St. Johns County Emergency Medical Services, responded to Ms. Rhoden's 911 call on behalf of Deborah. (T 53-56) He described Deborah's injury as a substantial, deep, clean laceration to the throat running almost from ear to ear, along with bruising around her eyes and that he had never seen this type of injury involving car accidents which he had responded to in the past. (T 57-59)

Deborah Callahan also testified that she married the petitioner in 1987, but that they broke up in the spring before the incident which caused the petitioner to threaten her by saying "I'll kill you and I don't care if I have to spend the rest of my life in prison for it." (T 201-206) On the evening

of the incident, Deborah received a phone call from the petitioner and she agreed to meet him at a bar named the "Ritz" because the petitioner stated he needed to borrow some money. (T 210-214)

The petitioner and Deborah next proceeded to another club that evening called the "Instant Replay" with Deborah following the petitioner. (T 214-215) When they arrived at the Instant Replay parking lot, Deborah stated she left her truck to smoke some pot with the petitioner in his van. (T 215-218, 249) Deborah further testified that a struggle ensued when she tried to leave Petitioner's van which culminated in the petitioner hitting her and taking off with her in the van. (T 218) While still driving the van, the petitioner, according to Deborah, told her to stay down on the van floor and struck her intermittently with his fist, threatening to kill her. (T 220)

Eventually, Deborah stated she managed to grab the van's steering wheel causing it to crash. (T 218) As she started to exit the van's side passenger door, however, she testified the petitioner immediately got out of his seat and grabbed her. (T 219) The next thing Deborah stated she heard was a clicking sound she thought was made from a "razor" type knife opening followed by the petitioner pulling her head back, causing her to fall, then cutting her from left to right across her throat with the box cutter, saying, "this is it, this is it, this is your last night." (T 219-224, 236-238) After the petitioner walked away, Deborah testified that she decided to

wrap her skirt around her neck and walk towards the porch light she saw on at Donna Rhoden's home. (T 219)

Deputy Helen Hayes with the St. Johns County Sheriff's office testified that upon speaking briefly with Deborah shortly after the incident, she proceeded to the petitioner's residence where the petitioner was apprehended at gunpoint. (T 308-314) According to Deputy Hayes, the petitioner stated numerous times to her that "he hoped she [Deborah] died so that he would get the electric chair and that he would be dead, also." (T 314) Deputy Hayes additionally stated that she had to summon emergency medical treatment for the petitioner when she noticed upon handcuffing him, that his wrists and the inside of his arms had been cut. (T 320-322, 329-330)

Deputy Mary Leuck, a detective with the St. Johns County Sheriff's office, testified that she arrived at the police investigation after the petitioner had been arrested. (T 332-340) She then read Petitioner his Miranda warnings upon which he stated that he did not cut Deborah's throat and that he had fallen on a dagger. (T 332-342) Deputy Leuck further testified that the petitioner told her that Deborah had changed her mind about going home with him on the evening of the incident while riding in his van approximately half the way there and that is when she punched him in the mouth and grabbed the Van's steering wheel causing the crash. (T 342, 344) In the petitioner's written statement to the police, he also explained that once the van had crashed, he pulled Deborah out of the side door by her

hair and told her to come with him, but that she did not want to because her shoulder hurt, so he left her there by the van. (T 344-345)

Daniel Knieriemen testified that he knew both Deborah and the petitioner and had seen them together on several occasions at the Ritz Bar prior to the date of the incident. (Т Marsha Gordon also testified that she too had seen the 432 - 434) petitioner and Deborah together at the Ritz Bar and at the petitioner's trailer between May and July of 1992, but noticed nothing out of the ordinary to indicate that Deborah was in any way afraid of or angry with the petitioner. (T 440-449) Marv Wilson, a bartender at the Instant Replay additionally testified that she saw the petitioner and Deborah leave the bar in Petitioner's van on the evening of the incident and did not notice anything unusual or anything that would indicate that Deborah was being threatened or attacked by the petitioner or that she was in danger. (T 460-471)

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The question certified by the Fifth District Court of appeal to this Honorable Court should be answered in the negative and Petitioner awarded a new trial. The District Court incorrectly held that based on the proffer made by defense counsel to the trial court concerning the expected testimony of an unlisted defense witness, Joseph Vono, the trial court was not required to conduct a full <u>Richardson</u> hearing under a "harmless error" analysis. When presented with an undisputed inadequate Richardson hearing, a harmless error analysis has been rejected on numerous occasions by this Court. Therefore, Petitioner urges this Court to continue to reject an appellate court's substituting a "harmless error" analysis for the firmly rooted procedural safeguards provided by the per se reversible error rule when a trial court fails to conduct an adequate Richardson inquiry. To hold otherwise, would jeopardize the historical constitutionally protected interests of both the State and the accused.

#### ARGUMENT

THE QUESTION CERTIFIED BY THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT, SHOULD BE ANSWERED IN THE NEGATIVE.

The <u>Richardson</u> violation in the instant case occurred when defense counsel requested permission from the trial court to call an unlisted witness, Joseph Vono, the landlord of the trailer park where the Petitioner and the victim, Deborah Callahan, lived prior to incident. (T 233-235) This request by defense counsel took place during the following colloquy between the prosecutor, the trial court, and defense counsel <u>prior</u> to the defense presenting its case:

\*

MR. CANAN [Prosecutor]: Judge, can I, before, put something on the record?

THE COURT: Yeah.

\*

MR. CANAN: Defense, as the court well knows, has listed six or seven witnesses in the past week or at least since pretrial.

\*

THE COURT: Yeah.

MR. CANAN: <u>And I would like the opportunity</u> to speak with them and I'm hoping that

THE COURT: You may do that before they take the witness stand. In fact, if you feel it necessary before they take the witness stand, I'll let you depose them.

MR. BOYER [Defense counsel]: The only thing I would state for the record, Your Honor, of course that's within your discretion, but at the time that these witnesses were brought to the State's attention at pre-trial, they were given an opportunity to request a continuance and said they were nonetheless ready for trial. There was no request to the Court at that time for any additional time to depose.

THE COURT: You shouldn't have any objection to the State deposing witnesses that the defense is going to produce. After all, they're what's known as last-minute witnesses, Mr. Boyer, quite common in the criminal practice.

MR. BOYER: We do have an additional last minute witness who has not been disclosed. His name is Joe Johnna (phonetic). He is the landlord for the particular trailer park in which this occurred. He was added today because of the fact that our witness from New York is unable to attend.

THE COURT: Well, this witness that you added today won't be permitted to testify. You've known about this witness for how long?

MR. BOYER: I've know bout the existence of this witness when my client brought him to my attention after we were told that --

THE COURT: Give me a time period. How long have you known about this witness?

MR. BOYER: I've known that there was a landlord for at least -- at least a month, I've known there was a landlord. However, Mr. O'Rourke gave me the gentleman's name and address after jury selection, Your Honor, and after I informed --

THE COURT: When did you tell Mr. Canan about it?

MR. BOYER: Just now, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Well you won't be permitted to call that witness.

MR. BOYER: Your Honor, I would ask that we have a Richardson hearing on that issue to determine --

THE COURT: You just had it.

MR. BOYER: I would request, Your Honor, that we be given an opportunity to voir dire the testimony because, as you are aware, there are three factors that should be considered and I would ask that I be given an opportunity to make a record, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You can make a record, go right ahead.

MR. BOYER: Your Honor, as you --

THE COURT: When your time comes. Cal your next witness.

\* \*

(T 233-235)

Later in the trial, after the State had presented its case-in-chief, defense counsel made the following proffer:

\*

\* \*

MR. BOYER [Defense counsel]: ... Mr. Vono (phonetic) is the landlord at the particular facility. His testimony will be that during the three moths in which the Defendant and the victim were allegedly separated, that contrary to the statements of the State's witness, that they in fact did live together as man and wife, that he did view the truck there on occasions and that he found that during the several years that the two lived there, that he had no complaints whatsoever concerning any violence at that particular residence or concerning any threat.

(T 408) The trial court summarily concluded in response, however, that Mr. Vono's testimony would be " ... tangential, at best," and that because defense counsel had other witnesses who could testify that the petitioner and Deborah were "friendly", it was also "cumulative." (T 410)

This Honorable Court has recently reaffirmed in <u>Barrett</u> <u>v. State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S627 (Fla. November 23, 1994) (petition for rehearing pending, S. Ct. case number 78,743),

that where there is no dispute a discovery violation has occurred, the need for a full and adequate Richardson<sup>1</sup> hearing by the trial court into all the surrounding circumstances pertaining to the violation is <u>automatically</u> triggered. <u>Id.</u>, S628. See also Justus v. State, 438 So.2d 358, 365 (Fla. 1983), cert denied, 465 U.S. 1052, 104 S.Ct. 1332, 79 L.Ed.2d 726 (1984). Consequently, based on the record in the instant case cited above, it was clearly incumbent upon the trial court to conduct a full <u>Richardson</u> inquiry at the time Petitioner's counsel sought to include Mr. Vono as a defense witness, especially to determine what, if any, prejudice would have resulted to the State by Mr. Vono testifying. As specifically outlined by this court in Barrett, supra, and in Wilcox v. State, 367 So.2d 1020, 1022-1023 (Fla. 1979), because the purpose of an adequate Richardson inquiry is to ferret out, procedural, rather than substantive, prejudice, the trial court's inquiry should at least ascertain whether the particular violation was inadvertent or wilful, trivial or substantial, and most importantly what effect, if any, it had on the complaining party's ability to prepare for trial.

In the case <u>sub judice</u>, the prosecutor <u>voiced no</u> <u>objection</u> whatsoever to Mr. Vono testifying. (T 233-235) In fact, this entire matter could have been easily resolved if the trial court had simply allowed the prosecutor an opportunity to speak with Mr. Vono prior to his testifying just as the prosecutor had requested to do with the petitioner's other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1971).

defense witnesses whose names had been provided to the State shortly before the trial. (T 233-234)

The district court found in the case sub judice that the trial court failed to conduct an adequate Richardson inquiry concerning whether the State would be prejudiced by the testimony of Mr. Vono. O'Rourke, supra, D2432. Citing Brazell v. State, 570 So.2d 919 (Fla. 1990), the Fifth District Court proceeded to further extrapolate from the Brazell opinion that because defense counsel proffered to the trial court a synopsis of Mr. Vono's expected testimony, the District Court could then, acting as a reviewing court, hold that the trial court's sua sponte refusal to allow Mr. Vono to testify amounted to harmless error. Nowhere in this Court's opinion in Brazell, however, does this Court sanction a harmless error approach when the trial court has not conducted an adequate <u>Richardson</u> inquiry. To the contrary, this Court unequivocally held in Brazell that "when a party wishes to call a witness whose name has not been furnished to the other side, the trial judge has no alternative but to make the inquiries required by Richardson." Id. at 921. [emphasis added]

In <u>Smith v. State</u>, 500 So.2d 125 (Fla. 1986), this Court reaffirmed, as well, the long established and well settled rule that the failure of a trial judge to timely conduct an adequate <u>Richardson</u> inquiry in the face of a discovery violation constitutes <u>per se</u> reversible error:

> We see no evidence that the clear dictates of this integral component of Florida law have imposed any significant hardship on the bench or bar or have worked any injustice.

On the contrary, the requirement that a trial court merely <u>listen</u> and evaluate any claim of prejudice accompanied by the minor delay which most hearings or inquires will impose on a trial is more than justified by the assurance of compliance with our rules and requirements of due process.

<u>Smith</u>, 500 So.2d at 126. Significant here is the observation that, "there is neither a 'rebuttal' or an 'impeachment' exception to the <u>Richardson</u> rule." <u>Smith</u>, 500 So.2d at 127. <u>See</u> <u>also Hicks v. State</u>, 400 So.2d 955, 956 (Fla. 1981) and <u>Smith v.</u> <u>State</u>, 372 So.2d 86 (Fla. 1979). Neither, under both of the above listed <u>Smith</u> cases, may a trial or appellate court make a post trial determination of prejudice suffered by the surprised party.

While the district court places great emphasis on the proffer made by defense counsel to the trial court, the content of a proffer, standing alone, is not the determining factor as to the bare bones issue of whether the trial court conducted an adequate <u>Richardson</u> inquiry. <u>Plummer v. State</u>, 454 So.2d 61 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Moreover, "[n]o appellate court can be certain that errors of this type are harmless. A review of the cold record is not an adequate substitute for a trial judge's determined inquiry into all aspects of the [discovery] breach ..., as <u>Richardson</u> indicates." <u>Cumbie v. State</u>, 345 So.2d 1061, 1062 (Fla. 1977). <u>See also McDugle v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 660 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) and <u>Brown v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 211 (Fla. 1987).

Finally, case law is well settled that the extreme sanction imposed by the trial judge in the instant case of

excluding the petitioner's witness from testifying is soundly disapproved of except in the most egregious, wilful cases of a discovery violation, and then, only after the trial court has made an adequate <u>Richardson</u> inquiry. <u>Patterson v. State</u>, 419 So.2d 1120, 1122-23 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982), rev. denied 430 So.2d 452 (Fla. 1983); Lee v. State, 534 So.2d 1226 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); S.G. v. State, 518 So.2d 964 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); and Z.B. v. State, 576 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991). Thus, in light of the cold facts in the instant case that the State voiced no objection to the petitioner's witness, Mr. Vono, testifying, and that the trial court abused its discretion in summarily excluding Mr. Vono from testifying without an adequate Richardson inquiry, this Court "cannot ignore the inequity of so severe a consequence for an otherwise non-prejudicial discovery violation." L.W. v. State, 618 So.2d 349, 351 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). See also Baker v. State, 522 So.2d 491 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). The district court's certified question must be answered in the negative and the petitioner's convictions reversed for a new trial under the due process clause of Article 1, Sections 9, 16 and 22 of the Florida Constitution and the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

## CONCLUSION

For the reasons expressed herein, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court answer the certified question by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the negative, quash the decision of the District Court, and remand for a new trial.