09 7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

FILED

APR 11 1995

By _____

WILLIAM JOSEPH O'ROURKE,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 84,934

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KRISTEN L. DAVENPORT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #909130 444 Seabreeze Boulevard Fifth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The State accepts O'Rourke's Statement of Facts with the following additions:

O'Rourke made numerous threats against his wife, Deborah Callahan, before the night of the attempted murder. He and Callahan were arguing over possession of the trailer in which they had lived. O'Rourke told a mutual friend that if his wife took the trailer he would kill her. (T. 27). When the friend told O'Rourke the trailer wasn't worth killing someone over, O'Rourke stated that he was an old man, dying of asbestos poisoning, and he did not care if the state took care of him for the rest of the time he had left. (T. 30). O'Rourke also told another friend that if he couldn't have his wife no one would. (T. 39).

The paramedic who responded to the crime scene testified that O'Rourke's wife had a clean, one-half to three-quarters of an inch-deep laceration from ear to ear. (T. 58-59; 62). The paramedic had responded to 500-600 traffic accidents in his ten years experience, and he had never seen that type of injury from such an accident. (T. 54, 59). The doctor who examined Callahan at the hospital testified that the smooth, straight line of the laceration to her throat was consistent with the cut of a box cutter and was not consistent with an injury from a car accident. (T. 193-94). Several knives and a box cutter were found in O'Rourke's van, although there was no blood on these items. (T. 113, 137). Callahan testified that O'Rourke had the knife in his hand as he walked away after cutting her. (T. 224).

- 1 -

Callahan also had bruising around her eyes and dry blood around her nose and mouth. (T. 58). Callahan testified that O'Rourke had punched her in the face when she tried to get away from him in the van. (T. 221).

The evidence technician who examined the crime scene testified that the windshield from the van had become wrapped around a tree. (T. 81). She examined the windshield to determine if anyone had impacted it and found no hair, skin, or blood on the glass, nor any blood in that area. (T. 133-34).

The excluded witness, the trailer park landlord, would have testified that he believed O'Rourke and his wife still lived together during their separation and that he had heard no complaints of violence while they lived together. (T. 408). The trial court found that this testimony would be cumulative and irrelevant. (T. 408-10).

Several defense witnesses testified that O'Rourke and Callahan were often seen together during their separation, both in public and at their trailer. (T. 433-34; 442-43; 445-47; 459; 462-63). Callahan herself testified, in fact, that she still saw O'Rourke during their separation, in public and at their trailer, and she admitted that she willingly met O'Rourke the evening of the crime. (T. 263-67; 271-73). Callahan never testified that she had complained to her landlord about O'Rourke. O'Rourke's next door neighbor testified that he had never heard O'Rourke make any threats against his wife. (T. 451, 458).

- 2 -

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has recently concluded that a harmless error analysis is appropriate where the defendant contends that the trial court erred in failing to conduct an adequate <u>Richardson</u> hearing. In the decision below, the district court conducted a harmless error analysis and concluded that any error in the trial court's failure to inquire into prejudice did not necessitate a new trial, since the excluded testimony of the undisclosed defense witness was cumulative and irrelevant. The decision of the district court should be approved and the certified question answered in the affirmative.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT'S EXCLUSION OF THE CUMULATIVE, IRRELEVANT TESTIMONY OF THE TRAILER PARK LANDLORD WAS, AT WORST, HARMLESS ERROR.

Section 924.33, Florida Statutes (1993), provides that "[n]o judgment shall be reversed unless the appellate court is of the opinion ... that error was committed that injuriously affected the substantial rights of the appellant." This provision reflects the legislature's intent that Florida's appellate courts should not "apply a standard of review which requires that trials be free of harmless errors." <u>State v.</u> DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1134 (Fla. 1986).

Deciding whether to apply a harmless error rule to certain errors, as opposed to a per se reversible error rule, involves an analysis which attempts to provide to the accused a fair trial while at the same time "not make a mockery of criminal prosecutions by elevating form over substance." <u>Id</u>. at 1135. A per se rule is only appropriate for those errors which always vitiate the right to a fair trial and are therefore always harmful. Id.

This Court developed the per se reversible error rule in cases involving the failure to hold a <u>Richardson¹</u> hearing for a different reason. Such a rule was "based on our assumption that 'no appellate court can be certain that errors of this type are harmless.'" <u>State v. Schopp</u>, 20 Fla. L. Wkly. S136, S137-38 (Fla. March 23, 1995) (quoting <u>Cumbie v. State</u>, 345 So. 2d 1061,

¹ <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 246 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1971).

1062 (Fla. 1977)). This Court recently reconsidered the wisdom of such a rule, however, and concluded that a per se reversal rule is not warranted in this context, and that continued application of such a rule would have the effect of elevating form over substance. <u>Schopp</u>, 20 Fla. L. Wkly. at S138. Accordingly, this Court held that the failure to conduct an adequate <u>Richardson</u> hearing is, like virtually all other trial error, subject to a harmless error analysis. <u>Id</u>.

While this Court's ruling in <u>Schopp</u> arose in the context of a discovery violation by the State, its rejection of a per se reversible error rule is equally applicable to the situation in the present case, wherein the defendant committed the discovery violation.² However, the actual harmless error analysis itself must be somewhat different in the two situations.

In the case of a discovery violation by the State, the purpose of the <u>Richardson</u> inquiry is to ferret out procedural prejudice to the defense from the State's nondisclosure. <u>Id</u>. at S137. Accordingly, in conducting a harmless error analysis of the trial court's failure to hold such an inquiry, the appellate

² In fact, the inequity of the per se reversal rule is probably best illustrated in a case where the defendant commits the discovery violation. For example, suppose Defendant decides to call Witness, who will testify that he knows absolutely nothing about the case. The trial court discovers that Defendant had failed to disclose Witness to the State. Frustrated with Defendant's repeated violations of the discovery rules, the trial court decides, without holding a Richardson hearing, that Witness will not be allowed to testify. Under the old rule, on appeal the trial court's failure to conduct a Richardson hearing would have been deemed to be per se reversible error, and Defendant would receive a new trial -- even though Witness' testimony would have added absolutely nothing to his defense and his own misconduct was the catalyst for the error.

court must determine whether there is a reasonable possibility that the discovery violation procedurally prejudiced the defense -- that is, whether the defendant's trial preparation or strategy would have been materially different had the violation not occurred. Id. at S138.

In the case of a discovery violation by the defendant, on the other hand, the purpose of the <u>Richardson</u> inquiry is to ferret out procedural prejudice to the State. By the time the case has reached the point of an appeal, however, the issue of prejudice has essentially become moot. The defendant surely does not have the right to contend that a new trial is warranted because the State was harmed in its trial preparation by the defendant's nondisclosure.³ The defendant has absolutely no interest in protecting the State's right to fully prepare for trial, and, accordingly, has no interest in ensuring that the <u>Richardson</u> hearing was adequate to protect that right. Rather, the only interest the defendant could possibly have is in ensuring that the remedy for his rule violation is fair to him.

Accordingly, the real interest the defendant has in the adequacy of a <u>Richardson</u> hearing rests not in the hearing itself, but in the result of the hearing -- a reasoned sanction for the discovery violation. This principle is well illustrated by cases where convictions have been reversed on the basis of defense discovery violations. Such rulings have not been based simply on the inadequacy of the <u>Richardson</u> hearing, but rather on the

If this was in fact the issue on appeal the State will obviously be willing to waive its prejudice and allow the verdict to stand.

impropriety of the sanction imposed by the trial court. <u>See,</u> <u>e.g., L.W. v. State</u>, 618 So. 2d 349 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993); <u>Lee v.</u> <u>State</u>, 534 So. 2d 1226, 1227-28 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); <u>Wilkerson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 461 So. 2d 1376 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). <u>But see Brumley v.</u> <u>State</u>, 500 So. 2d 233 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986) (reversing conviction solely on basis of inadequate <u>Richardson</u> hearing, but noting that exclusion of evidence was harmless and certifying question to this Court), <u>rev. denied</u>, 508 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 1987).

Because the defendant's interest in an adequate <u>Richardson</u> inquiry where the State is the victim of the rule violation rests solely on his interest in a reasoned sanction, it is the sanction itself which must be the subject of a harmless error analysis. Accordingly, the inquiry in such cases should follow the basic harmless error test -- whether the error complained of (i.e. -the exclusion of the witness' testimony) contributed to the jury's verdict. <u>See DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d at 1135. The answer to this question in the present case is obviously "no".

In finding the exclusion of the landlord's testimony to be harmless, the district court stated as follows:

The landlord, defense counsel proffered, would have testified that it was the landlord's belief that O'Rourke and his wife, contrary to the wife's statement, were still living together on the date of the attempted murder. The landlord also would have testified that in the several years that the couple had lived at the park he had had no complaints of any violence at the residence. The court found the evidence as to the lack of prior violence at the residence to be irrelevant. The court found that the rest of the evidence tending to show that the husband and wife were on

- 7 -

friendly terms would be cumulative. The re-affirmed his courtearlier trial decision to disallow the landlord's testimony and defense counsel then put on his case. Witnesses for the defense included a friend of O'Rourke's who testified that while he had seen O'Rourke and his wife in public together he believed they were separated at the The next witness, the fiancee of time. the prior witness, testified that she observed O'Rourke and his wife together at various bars and once at O'Rourke's This witness testified that trailer. she had "no idea they were not living together" and further stated, "[t]hey were still together. I mean, I seen them together." A third witness testified that he observed O'Rourke's wife's pickup truck 0'Rourke's at trailer one time between April of 1992 and July of 1992. As the trial court concluded, the landlord's testimony indeed would have been cumulative and tangential at best. The wife herself testified that while she had moved out of the trailer in April, she had been back to the trailer on more than one occasion since then and that she had also met with her husband on occasion at The landlord's proffered various bars. testimony that he believed the wife still lived at the trailer would have little to O'Rourke's defense, added particularly in light of the overwhelming evidence against him.

O'Rourke v. State, 645 So. 2d 569, 570-71 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994).

The district court's analysis of this issue is correct. The evidence against O'Rourke was overwhelming, and the testimony of an additional witness that O'Rourke and his wife were not totally separated at the time of the attempted murder, a fact which had virtually nothing to do with the crime and which was essentially admitted by the wife, would not have affected the jury's verdict. Any error in excluding this testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

- 8 -

The State would further note that, since the focus of the harmless error analysis must be substantive in the case of a defense discovery violation, this Court may want to reevaluate the applicability of <u>Richardson</u> to such cases. Because of the vastly different ramifications of a defense discovery violation versus a State discovery violation, it is questionable whether the inquiry into a discovery violation by the defense should be termed a "<u>Richardson</u> hearing" at all, and it is certainly arguable that such an error should never be subject to review in this context.

The original purpose of requiring a <u>Richardson</u> hearing was to protect the right of the defendant to prepare for trial with full disclosure of the evidence against him and to ensure that when this right is violated the effect of such a violation is fully explored and remedied. <u>Richardson</u>, 246 So. 2d at 774-75. The failure to hold such a hearing will in many cases be reversible error, although in some cases the appellate court will be able to see that there was in fact no prejudice to the defendant and the failure to hold such a hearing was therefore harmless. <u>Schopp</u>, 20 Fla. L. Wkly. at S138.

In the case of a discovery violation committed by the defendant, on the other hand, the failure to explore the procedural prejudice to the State and to adequately cure that prejudice, to the extent possible, will never harm the defendant -- it can only work to his benefit. Accordingly, the actual failure to hold the <u>Richardson</u> hearing itself will always be, at worst, harmless error. It is only when a sanction is

- 9 -

imposed that the defendant is in any way harmed -- and the harm is substantive (i.e. -- the exclusion of an important witness) rather than procedural.

Of course, a hearing should still be held when the defendant commits a discovery violation, in order to ensure that the State is not procedurally prejudiced. However, the failure to hold such a hearing (i.e. -- to protect the rights of the State), should not be available as a point of error to be raised by the defendant on appeal. Accordingly, the State submits that confusion can best be avoided by expressly recognizing the different postures of the two situations and by refusing to continue to categorize both situations as requiring "<u>Richardson</u> hearings," the inadequacy of which may be the subject of appeal. Rather, the only point which should be the subject of a defendant's appeal is whether, when a sanction is imposed for his discovery violation, that sanction was erroneous and harmful.

Moreover, because the prejudice inquiry in cases of a defense discovery violation is substantive, rather than procedural, and because this Court has recently recognized, in Schopp, that the prophylactic purpose of the Richardson rule had been elevated to such a degree that form was more important than substance, the State submits that this Court should revisit its holding in Brazell v. State, 570 So. 2d 919 (Fla. 1990). There, this Court held that a Richardson situation presents an exception to the general rule that a defendant cannot complain about the exclusion of evidence without having proffered that evidence. Id. at 921.

- 10 -

Placing on the trial court, rather than the defendant, the burden of establishing a record by holding a <u>Richardson</u> hearing makes sense when the defendant's rights have been violated and need protection. However, the same justification is not present when the purpose of the hearing is to protect the State's rights.

The defendant should bear the burden of preserving the record sufficiently to allow for complete appellate review of the trial court's alleged errors. An appellate court's evaluation of the remedy for a defense discovery violation should be treated like any other alleged trial error. Where the remedy is exclusion of evidence, the defendant should be required to proffer the evidence in order to preserve the issue for appeal, just as he is required to do in any other context. The defendant's burden to preserve issues at trial should not be lightened because he has violated the rules of discovery.⁴

⁴ Moreover, as pointed out by Judge Anstead:

[I]t would appear logical, where it is the defendant who has committed the place discovery violation, to some burden upon him, a burden similar to placed upon the state under that Richardson, to demonstrate not only a lack of substantial procedural prejudice to the state, but also of demonstrating prejudice he would suffer the by exclusion of the witness who would allegedly testify in his favor. Of course, he can hardly demonstrate such prejudice if he fails to disclose on the record the nature of the evidence to be presented by the witness.

<u>Nava v. State</u>, 450 So. 2d 606, 609 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), <u>appeal</u> <u>dismissed</u>, 508 So. 2d 14 (Fla. 1987), <u>disapproved</u>, <u>Brazell v.</u> <u>State</u>, 570 So. 2d 919, 921 (Fla. 1990). At any rate, the record in the present case is easily sufficient to allow the appellate court to evaluate the effect of the trial court's alleged error, and the district court properly found this error to be harmless. The decision of the district court should be approved by this Court, and the certified question asking whether a harmless error analysis is appropriate should be answered in the affirmative.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, respondent respectfully requests this honorable Court answer the certified question in the affirmative and approve the decision of the district court in all respects.